ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

DEC 10 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

Certiorari to Georgetown County
Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

SHANNON MCGEE,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE # 2014-000297

RE-PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Indictments

On June 14, 2006, the Georgetown County grand jury indicted Petitioner Shannon McGee for (1) second degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor; (2) a lewd act on a minor child; and (3) assault with intent to commit second degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. App. 598-605.

Trial and Guilty Verdict

On September 18, 2006, McGee was tried before the Honorable Roger L. Couch and a jury. App. 1. McGee was represented by Stuart M. Axelrod, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Robert Bryan. Id.

The jury returned verdicts of guilty on all three charges. App. 209, ll. 5-14. Judge Couch sentenced McGee to life without parole for second degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor,³ twenty years concurrent for assault with intent to commit second criminal sexual conduct with a minor, and fifteen years concurrent for lewd act upon a child. App. 215, l. 22 – 216, l. 10.

On September 22, 2006, McGee moved for a new trial. App. 218-243. Judge Couch denied the motion for a new trial. App. 249.

Direct Appeal

Appellate Defender Katherine H. Hudgins filed a direct appeal on McGee's behalf, arguing that the trial court erred in refusing to grant a new trial based on the assistant solicitor's failure to disclose a letter from a witness, Aaron Kinloch, who had been incarcerated with McGee at the county jail, demonstrating a willingness to make a deal in exchange for testimony. App. 245-256. On November 19, 2009, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion affirming McGee's

³ The sentence of life without parole was mandatory pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. § 17-25-45.

convictions. State v. McGee, Op. No. 2009-UP-539 (Ct. App. filed Nov. 19, 2009); App. 277-278. This Court denied certiorari on January 20, 2011. App. 581-582.

Application for Post-Conviction Relief, Evidentiary Hearing and Order of Dismissal

On February 14, 2011, McGee filed his application for post-conviction relief (“PCR”) alleging claims of ineffective assistance against trial counsel and appellate counsel, as well as prosecutorial misconduct. App. 280-285. McGee filed a first amendment to the PCR application on March 7, 2011. App. 292-341. The State filed its Return on March 23, 2011. App. 347-354. McGee filed a second amendment to his PCR application on January 25, 2012. App. 358-361.

An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Steven H. John on December 19, 2013. App. 362-439. McGee was represented by William L. Runyon, Jr., and the State was represented by Assistant Attorney General Joshua L. Thomas. App. 362. The witnesses at that hearing included trial counsel Axelrod, witness Michael Jerome Jones, and McGee. App. 366-428.

Judge John denied McGee’s PCR application in an Order of Dismissal filed January 23, 2014. App. 580-597.

Petition for Writ of Certiorari

On September 4, 2014, appellate defender Carmen Ganjehsani filed a Johnson⁴ Petition for Writ of Certiorari. On September 29, 2015, this Court denied the motion to be relieved as counsel and directed the filing of Re-Petition for Writ of Certiorari addressing eight issues. This Re-Petition for Writ of Certiorari follows.

⁴ Johnson v. State, 294 S.C. 310, 364 S.E.2d 201 (1988).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Relevant Facts of the Trial

McGee was convicted of sexually abusing his stepdaughter. Trial counsel made a pre-trial motion for continuance. Though McGee was on the trial roster, counsel did not learn until the Friday before trial that the State was calling McGee's trial early the next week.⁵ He understood from another solicitor that he had protection for part of the week to conduct DUI trials in Horry County Magistrate's Court. Trial counsel had **seven hundred** clients and could not be prepared to go to trial on each of them at the solicitor's whim. He indicated that he had met with his client and some witnesses but needed more time to prepare. App. 14, l. 15 – 18, l. 6. The trial court denied the motion for continuance, but assisted trial counsel with service of his subpoenas and facilitated his viewing of the minor child's interview at the Victim Recovery Center. App. 18, l. 7 – 21, l. 12.

The witnesses at trial included McGee's stepdaughter, McGee's stepson, Dr. Karen Ann Rahter, and jailhouse informant Aaron Kinloch. McGee's stepdaughter admitted that she recanted her allegations of sexual abuse to trial counsel, telling him that she made up the allegations due to pressure from her mother's family and because McGee was mean. App. 75, ll. 18-25. At trial, however, the stepdaughter testified that her mother manipulated her into recanting the allegations. App. 69 – 71. She claimed that the last incident of abuse occurred in November 2004. App. 72, ll. 4-12. McGee's stepson testified that his sister told him that somebody did something nasty to her in their old trailer, and he told his grandmother. App. 87, l. 5 – 88, l. 12. Dr. Rahter testified that she conducted a physical exam of the minor child on September 1, 2005 and found a partial transection of the hymen, which was consistent with penetrating injury to the vagina. She admittedly could not

⁵ In a faxed letter from the solicitor to trial counsel dated Friday, September 15, 2006, he indicated that McGee's case would be second for trial. App. 516.

tell how or when the injury occurred, except that it was over 72 hours prior to the examination. App. 128, l. 3 – 131, l.18; App. 132, ll. 16-21.

Aaron Kinloch testified that he wrote to the solicitor about McGee's case at the end of July but did not speak to the solicitor until September 18, 2006. Kinloch claimed that in May or June, while he and McGee were in the county jail, McGee came to his cell and discussed his case. According to Kinloch, McGee denied using his penis but admitted to using his finger on his stepdaughter. Despite the fact that no DNA testing was ever conducted in this case, Kinloch also claimed that McGee told him that a DNA test came back "inconclusive." App. 101, l. 11 – 106, l. 14; App. 109, l. 13 – 118, l. 22.

Prior to the trial the solicitor advised that Kinloch had a pending charge for receiving stolen goods.⁶ However, due to its similarity to other charges and absence from the NCIC printed by the solicitor, it became obvious that trial counsel and the trial court were both later misunderstood all of Kinloch's charges to be resolved. App. 24, l. 22 – 26, l. 20; App. 91, l. 7 – 92, l. 14; App. 93, l. 7 – 98, l. 10; App. 168, l. 20 – 171, l. 12; App. 563 (Kinloch NCIC). The solicitor made no effort to correct the confusion regarding Kinloch's pending charge when it became apparent to him.

While the solicitor and Kinloch both contended that no deal was made for Kinloch's testimony, the solicitor failed to disclose the letter that Kinloch wrote to him from the jail until after McGee's trial. App. 220, l. 6 – 232, l. 10. Kinloch indicated his willingness to testify in exchange for "help" in his August 4, 2006⁷ letter to the solicitor, which was received by the solicitor's office

⁶ On July 28, 2006, Kinloch pled guilty to one count of receiving stolen goods. See case no. 2006-GS-22-00717. Subsequently, Kinloch was charged with receiving stolen goods on August 1, 2006. He did not plead guilty to that offense until September 21, 2006, the day after McGee's trial. See case no. K104330; App. 536 (Kinloch Arrest Warrant Aug. 1, 2006); App. 538 -540 (Kinloch Indictment Sept. 13, 2006).

⁷ Kinloch was served with the arrest warrant in case no. K104330 just three days prior, on August 1, 2006. App. 536 (Kinloch Arrest Warrant Aug. 1, 2006).

on August 7, 2006. App. 523 – 524 (Kinloch letter). At trial, Kinloch said he contacted the solicitor only because he was a father and thought the allegations were “nasty.” App. 111, ll. 13-21.

Following McGee’s conviction and sentence, trial counsel filed a motion for new trial based upon the solicitor’s failure to properly disclose Kinloch’s pending charges and the letter he received from Kinloch. The solicitor admitted that he failed to disclose the letter, but asserted that it was not Brady⁸ material. App. 533 – 579. In a written order dated November 9, 2006, Judge Couch denied the motion for a new trial. Though he agreed that the solicitor’s failure to disclose the letter was “a clear disregard for his responsibility as a prosecutor to seek justice,” he found that there was no evidence that an actual deal existed. App. 249; App. 327 – 328.

Relevant Facts of the Post-Conviction Relief Evidentiary Hearing

In addition to the testimony and exhibits presented at the evidentiary hearing, the PCR court reviewed McGee’s detailed *pro se* application for post-conviction relief and the amendment filed thereto. App. 292 – 341 (Amend. to PCR Application); App. 580 (Order of Dismissal, p. 1); App. 436, ll. 19-21.

Trial counsel testified that he was appointed to represent McGee through a contract he had with the Georgetown County public defender’s office. App. 370, ll. 16-20. He only received notice that McGee’s case was being called for trial three days prior to its start date. App. 366, ll. 12-17; App. 368, l. 7 – 370, l. 14. He was not made aware of Aaron Kinloch’s testimony prior to trial and was surprised by it. He thought Kinloch’s testimony was significant to the jury and caused the jury to convict McGee. App. 371, l. 16 – 374, l. 4. It was not until after McGee’s trial that trial counsel understood Kinloch’s outstanding charge and saw Kinloch’s letter to the solicitor. App. 399, l. 2 – 400, l. 21. Had his request for continuance been granted, trial counsel would have “absolutely seen

⁸ Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194 (1963).

Shannon [McGee] more than [he] did” and believed he may have found out about Kinloch or other potential witnesses in advance. App. 379, l. 22 – 382, l. 10. Trial counsel testified that McGee always maintained that his stepdaughter’s allegations were false and made up because he had reprimanded her. App. 378, ll. 2-10. Trial counsel said that the solicitor’s decision to go forward with McGee’s trial when it did was “unfair to [him], and ultimately it was unfair to my client [McGee].” App. 388, ll. 7-17; App. 376, l. 16 – 377, l. 9.

Michael Jerome Jones was never contacted by trial counsel. App. 410, ll. 7-15. Jones testified that he was housed in the same cell block in the county detention center as McGee and Kinloch during the summer of 2006. App. 403, l. 9 – 404, l. 22. He was brought to the courthouse regarding his case when assistant solicitor Bryan took him out of the “bull pen” and “wanted to talk about [was] Shannon McGee.” The solicitor began telling Jones “about Shannon [McGee]’s wife, their daughter, where they went to [eat], what they had.” Though the solicitor never directly asked Jones to lie, that was the inference that Jones made from the solicitor’s comments and feeding him information about McGee’s case. App. 404, l. 23 – 405, l. 10; App. 410, ll. 21-24. According to Jones:

[The assistant solicitor] didn’t care what I got up on the stand and said about [McGee], long as I testified. That’s all he wanted. He just wanted somebody out at the jail to say [McGee] threw [sic] a piece of paper on the ground, [McGee] did this. That was it.

App. 407, ll. 14 – 25. In exchange for his testimony, the solicitor would grant Jones’ request to drop the charges against his female co-defendant. App. 407, ll. 14-17. Jones told the solicitor that Shannon told him “I swear to God I did not do it” and that the allegations were retribution for disciplining Minor Child 1 for sneaking out the window. App. 403, l. 9 – 405, l. 21.

When Jones returned to the jail, he told Kinloch and others about the solicitor looking for someone to testify against McGee. Kinloch wrote the letter to the solicitor after he spoke with

Jones. Kinloch had a significant criminal history and was afraid of the sentence he may receive in his pending case. App. 405, l. 21 – 406, l. 20; App. 409, ll. 4-18. Jones executed an affidavit consistent with his testimony at the PCR hearing. App. 527.

McGee testified that he never discussed his case with Kinloch and did not expect Kinloch to testify at his trial. App. 412, ll. 8-13; App. 423, ll. 4-9. He was also unaware that Jones had spoken with Kinloch until after his trial. App. 413, ll. 15-21. Furthermore, he did not know that his case was being called for trial that Monday until the Friday before. App. 414, ll. 7-17. McGee affirmed that he was pursuing all of the allegations raised in PCR application. App. 415, l. 3 – 423, l. 3.

McGee understood that trial counsel sought a continuance because he was not prepared for his case. App. 414, l. 18 – 415, l. 2. Trial counsel met with McGee two or three times. On at least one of those occasions, trial counsel was also meeting with at least ten other clients at the same time. App. 423, l. 25 – 424, l. 21. Had he been prepared, he would have learned about Kinloch, found out about the letter to the solicitor, and understood Kinloch's criminal history and pending charge. App. 417, l. 8 – 419, l. 4. During the trial, McGee also asked trial counsel to contact Michael Jones about Kinloch's charges and about the solicitor looking for someone at the jail to testify against him. App. 424, l. 22 – 425, l. 9; App. 409, ll. 19 – 410, l. 6. Michael Jones was listed on the State's potential witness list. App. 512-514.

McGee maintained his innocence and explained that he did not accept the solicitor's plea offer because he was not guilty. He had turned himself in and pled guilty for another offense as a teenager because he was in fact guilty, but he would not allow the solicitor to force him to plead guilty in this case. App. 425, ll. 10 – 20.

ARGUMENT

- I. The State's calling of petitioner's case for trial violated the South Carolina Constitution and this Court's decision in State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 735 S.E.2d 471 (2012), hindering trial counsel's ability to prepare for trial.**

Introduction

McGee's case was plagued by both an unethical prosecutor and an ineffective trial attorney. The assistant solicitor, Robert "Bo" Bryan, Jr., failed to disclose Brady information, misrepresented his relationship with State's witness Aaron Kinloch, and abused his prosecutorial control of the criminal docket to the disadvantage of McGee. McGee's trial attorney, Stuart Axelrod, failed to interview Michael Jones, another inmate who would have contradicted Kinloch's trial testimony and testified regarding Kinloch's motive to lie. Trial counsel also failed to object to improper argument and misstatements by the solicitor and to the jury instruction that the testimony of a victim in a sexual conduct case need not be corroborated. Those errors were compounded by the denial of trial counsel's motion for continuance. Trial counsel properly complained that the solicitor's calculated calling of the case when he did hindered trial counsel's ability to prepare for trial and placed the solicitor in a better position to gain a conviction. Nonetheless, the trial court denied the motion to continue. Appellate counsel was ineffective when she failed to raise the denial of the motion to continue on appeal.

Prejudice to McGee from the Prosecutorial Controlled Docket

The PCR court found that this Court's decision in State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 735 S.E.2d 471 (2012), did not apply retroactively and that McGee's case complied with the law as it existed at the time of his trial. App. 594 (Order of Dismissal, p. 15). The PCR court found that even if Langford were applicable, McGee failed to show prejudice. Specifically, it found that trial counsel did have adequate time to prepare for trial. The PCR court further found that

McGee “failed to articulate any information that could have been uncovered had a continuance been granted.” App. 595 – 596 (Order of Dismissal, p. 16-17).

In Langford, this Court held that S.C. CODE ANN. § 1-7-330, which vests exclusive control over the criminal docket in the circuit solicitor, is unconstitutional. 400 S.C. 421, 735 S.E.2d 471 (noting that one of the “prime reasons” for the separation of powers mandated by S.C. CONST. ART. I, § 8 is the prevention of “the concentration of power in the hands of too few” (quoting State ex rel. McLeod v. McInnis, 278 S.C. 307, 312, 295 S.E.2d 633, 636 (1982))). In doing so, this Court recognized the potential for abuse from a solicitor controlled docket. Id. at 439, 735 S.E.2d at 480-81. Two of those abuses, raised in the amicus brief filed in Langford, apply in McGee’s case. They include the calling of cases when the defense is ill-prepared and unable to present the most complete defense possible and the calling of a case when the State has the best possible opportunity to convict. Id.; see also Andrew M. Siegel, *When Prosecutors Control Criminal Court Dockets: Dispatches on History and Policy from a Land Time Forgot*, 32 AM. J. CRIM. L. 325, 351-69 (2005) (detailing the potential ills of prosecutorial control of the docket).

In the present case, the solicitor argued that trial counsel should have been prepared for McGee’s case because it was listed on the September 7, 2006 trial roster. App. 18, ll. 10-12; App. 227, ll. 1-13; App. 232, 16-18. In a letter dated September 15, 2006, the solicitor reminded trial counsel that McGee’s case was also on the trial roster in May, June, and July 2006. He thus opined that trial counsel’s “preparation to get ready for this trial this term of Court should be minimal given the fact that you have already prepared it three times in the past.” App. 516 (Letter from Solicitor, Sept. 15, 2006). As trial counsel noted, due to his heavy caseload of

seven hundred criminal cases, he could not possibly be prepared for every trial every time it was listed on the roster. App. 232, l. 11 – 234, l. 22.

Conveniently, despite receiving a letter from Aaron Kinloch on August 7, 2006, the solicitor chose not to meet with him until September 18, 2006, the same day that the jury was selected in McGee's case. Trial counsel did not learn that Kinloch would be a witness until that same day and was still unaware of the nature of the testimony Kinloch would offer. He was thus unable to discuss the alleged confession with McGee prior to Kinloch's testimony. App. 375, l. 3 – 337, l. 9. The solicitor wanted trial counsel to be unprepared to effectively counter Kinloch's testimony through cross-examination or the presentation of other evidence.

The tenor of the solicitor's remarks about trial counsel during the hearing on the motion for new trial further evidenced his personal disdain for trial counsel. He argued that trial counsel's argument was based upon his own inability "to listen, understand, or know the rules." App. 225, ll. 4-7. He said that when Kinloch's pending charges were discussed, trial counsel was "not listening" and "was probably talking to somebody else in the courtroom." App. 226, l. 22 – 227, l. 1. He then remarked that trial counsel "had to be smart enough to walk to the end of the hall, take a left, walk in the Clerk's Office, and ask for any pending warrants on Aaron Kinloch" and that his ignorance or laziness was not the solicitor's fault. The solicitor said that it was not unethical for him to fail to "repeatedly bring it to his [trial counsel's] attention, perhaps tug on his coat, and suggest that he ask an appropriate question during his proffer." The solicitor then attempted to cite other problems that he had with Mr. Axelrod, at which point the judge instructed him to address only McGee's case. App. 231, ll. 11- 25.

Retroactivity of Langford

The PCR court erred in finding that Langford does not apply retroactively. The court began and ended its analysis regarding retroactivity by finding that Langford “announced a new rule constituting a clear break from past procedure.” App. 594 – 595 (Order of Dismissal, p. 15-16). The PCR court failed to consider the exceptions to the general rule against retroactivity, specifically the second exception when “the rule ‘requires the observance of those procedures that ... are implicit in the concept of ordered liberty.’” Talley v. State, 371 S.C. 535, 543, 640 S.E.2d 878, 882 (2007) (quoting Teague v. Lane, 489 U.S. 288, 109 S.Ct. 1060 (1989)); see also Danforth v. Minnesota, 552 U.S. 264, 282, 128 S.Ct. 1029, 1042 (2008) (holding that state courts can give broader effect to a new rule of criminal procedure even if such would be deemed “non-retroactive” under Teague).⁹ This exception “is ‘reserved for watershed rules of criminal procedure’ which implicate the fundamental fairness and accuracy of the proceeding.” Talley, 371 S.C. at 543, 640 S.E.2d at 882 (quoting Teague).

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