**RECEIVED**

APR 11 2016

**SC SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2014-000297

---

Shannon McGee, ..... Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, ..... Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN M. WILSON  
Attorney General

JESSICA E. KINARD  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 77889

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

Alabama, 308 U.S. 444, 450 (1940) (finding no prejudice where counsel was appointed in a capital case only three days before trial and the trial court denied counsel's request for additional time to prepare). Because Applicant was zealously represented by trial counsel at his trial, the Court finds he was not prejudiced by the solicitor's exclusive control of the docket. The finding of the post-conviction relief judge should not be disturbed, and the Petitioner's request for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

**II. Appellate counsel was not ineffective in her choice of issues presented on appeal.**

Probative evidence exists for this Court to uphold the post-conviction relief judge's findings. In particular, there is no evidence to dispute the finding that "the Applicant failed to demonstrate appellate counsel failed to exercise sound judgment in choosing which issues to present on appeal. See Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 103 S. Ct. 3308 (1983) (holding appellate counsel must be allowed to exercise reasonable professional judgment in determining which non-frivolous issues to raise on appeal)."

As discussed above, the burden rests on the Applicant in a post-conviction relief matter to overcome the strong presumption of adequate assistance and decisions made in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. Petitioner argues that the post-conviction relief judge "[found] that testimony of appellate counsel was required in order to evaluate the deficiency prong." (Re-petition, p.14.) However, the post-conviction relief judge did not make a finding when considering this and referring to Dempsev v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 610 S.E.2d 812 (2005), for the

proposition that "without a witness's testimony, 'any finding of prejudice is merely speculative.'" (App. 591 (Order of Dismissal, p. 12).)<sup>6</sup>

Petitioner places weight on the idea that “[g]enerally, only when ignored issues are clearly stronger than those presented, will the presumption of effective assistance of counsel be overcome.” Gray v. Greer, 800 F.2d 644 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1986). After expounding on this and arguing that all evaluation of effective assistance should be based on review of the record, Petitioner returns to the idea that the post-conviction relief judge relied on Dempsey, *supra*. This is simply not the case. No finding was made in accordance with Dempsey or its general principle that a witness must be presented at the post-conviction relief hearing. For this reason, as well as the case law requiring the Petitioner to prove prejudice, the post-conviction relief judge’s ruling must not be disturbed, and the Petitioner’s request for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

### **III. The solicitor did not commit prosecutorial misconduct when portraying his relationship with Aaron Kinloch.**

Probative evidence exists to uphold the post-conviction relief judge’s finding that the solicitor did not commit prosecutorial misconduct in his presentation of evidence relating to Kinloch. The post-conviction relief judge found that these issues were raised and decided on direct appeal as part of an alleged Brady violation that centered on the solicitor’s failure to provide the letter from Kinloch during trial. Because the issue was ruled upon by the Court of Appeals, Petitioner cannot now challenge it on collateral review. Humbert v. State, 345 S.C. 332, 338, 548 S.E.2d 862, 866 (2001) (“PCR is not a substitute for appeal or a place for asserting errors for the first time which could have

---

<sup>6</sup> This citation was prefaced by “cf.,” thus showing that this material may be worth considering, but not dispositive of the issue.

been reviewed on direct appeal.” (citing Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 430 S.E.2d 517 (1993))).

Petitioner has presented no evidence in his re-petition for writ of certiorari to demonstrate why Humbert should be ignored in this case. Though he expands on the issues that he has with the solicitor’s performance, rather than just the presentation of the letter, none of these allegations have merit. Petitioner argues that the solicitor should have known that Kinloch had pending charges that were not listed on the NCIC report provided to trial counsel, and that his failure to make their existence clear is misconduct. The argument surrounding this is purely speculative, as Petitioner cannot know what the solicitor actually knew or intended to do.<sup>7</sup>

Most importantly, there is little, if any, evidence that this activity prejudiced the Petitioner. The only change that knowledge of the pending charges could have had on the trial is a potential change in the cross-examination of Kinloch by trial counsel, which would be minimal, as Kinloch already had prior convictions. Trial counsel extensively attacked Kinloch’s credibility. The jury was aware of Kinloch’s prior conviction. Because trial counsel effectively called Kinloch’s credibility into question with his prior crimes, the impeachment evidence of Kinloch’s desire to assist the State did not deprive Petitioner of a fair trial. State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 554, 552 S.E.2d 300, 314-15 (2001) (“Where there is an abundance of evidence detailing the witness's unabashed disrespect for the law, the nondisclosure of other impeaching evidence does not deprive the defendant of a fair trial.” (citing State v. Gunn, 313 S.C. 124, 437 S.E.2d 75 (1993))). Therefore, the solicitor’s actions do not rise to the level of prejudice and the truth of the

---

<sup>7</sup> The assistant solicitor did not testify at the post-conviction relief hearing.

jury's verdict should not be questioned, nor should the ruling of the post-conviction relief judge. The Petitioner's request for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

**IV. Trial counsel was ineffective in not interviewing Michael Jones.**

Probative evidence exists to uphold the post-conviction relief judge's finding that trial counsel was not ineffective in not interviewing Michael Jones. As Petitioner himself concedes, trial counsel had no knowledge of Michael Jones involvement with Petitioner prior to receiving Aaron Kinloch's letter, which was not made available to him until after the trial. Petitioner had not mentioned Michael Jones to trial counsel so, therefore, there is no way for trial counsel to have known that Jones's testimony could be helpful to Petitioner's case. Even assuming, *arguendo*, that Jones could have presented evidence that would have changed the outcome of the case, trial counsel is not ineffective for failing to interview a witness of whom he had no knowledge.

The post-conviction relief judge found trial counsel's testimony to be credible, and Petitioner's to be not credible. Specifically, he found trial counsel adequately conferred with Applicant, conducted a proper investigation, and was thoroughly competent in his representation. Notably, failure to conduct an independent investigation is not *per se* ineffective assistance of counsel, especially where an investigation would not have uncovered any helpful information. See Moorehead v. State, 329 S.C. 329, 334, 496 S.E.2d 415, 417 (1998).

Petitioner failed to articulate any information that could have been uncovered with a further investigation. The testimony revealed trial counsel interviewed witnesses and investigated the case to the extent Petitioner provided leads to investigate. The post-conviction relief hearing transcript shows that, although Petitioner knew Jones from

incarceration, he did not know of Jones's involvement with Kinloch or his case. (App. p. 413:15-19.) "Counsel's investigatory decisions must be assessed in light of the information known at the time of the decisions, not in hindsight." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 680, 104 S.Ct. at 2060. Trial counsel's trial notebook, entered into evidence as Applicant's Exhibit Number 1, shows trial counsel was thoroughly prepared for trial. Therefore, Petitioner has not presented evidence trial counsel did not investigate the case or that further investigation "would have led to a different result." Moorehead, Id. The finding of the post-conviction relief judge should not be disturbed, and the Petitioner's request for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

**V. The solicitor did not use a Golden Rule argument; therefore, trial counsel was not ineffective by not objecting.**

Probative evidence exists to uphold the post-conviction relief judge's finding that trial counsel was not ineffective. Petitioner took the cited passages out of context and contorted them to seem like Golden Rule arguments. The definition of a Golden Rule argument, as cited by Petitioner, "suggest[s] to jurors...that they put themselves in the shoes of one of the parties, is generally impermissible because it encourages the jurors to depart from neutrality and to decide the case on the basis of personal interest and bias rather than on the evidence." State v. Reese, 359 S.C. 260, 271, 597 S.E.2d 169, 175 (Ct. App. 2004), reversed in part on other grounds by 359 S.C. 260, 597 S.E.2d 169 (2004).

The first passage of the solicitor's opening argument that Petitioner cites is certainly the most likely to be a Golden Rule argument, as it includes the passage "ask yourself what you would have done if you were twelve year old living [Minor Child 1] with your mother and your step-dad." Re-Petition, p.23. On first glance, this seems to be an obvious Golden Rule argument. However, placed back into context within the

transcript, it is apparent that the solicitor is not referring to viewing the evidence through the eyes of the victim, but rather considering how the victim would feel about reporting what happened to her and testifying against the Petitioner. (App. p. 47:14 – p. 48:8.) The post-conviction relief judge understood this and found this line of argument to be permissible because it is commentary on the weight that the testimony should be given. See State v. Caldwell, 300 S.C. 494, 505, 388 S.E.2d 816, 822 (1990) (citing State v. Allen, 266 S.C. 468, 224 S.E.2d 881 (1976)), overruled on other grounds by State v. Evans, 371 S.C. 27, 637 S.E.2d 313 (2006).

Trial counsel did properly object when the solicitor implied that what the average, reasonable person (or juror) would do is report a crime to the police. This was a proper objection, and was ruled as such by the trial judge. The solicitor's commentary placed inappropriate characterization on the victim and could have swayed the jury.

On top of these facts, there were curative instructions from the trial judge. Judge Couch charged the jury that the solicitor's arguments were not to be considered in determining Petitioner's guilt. (App. p. 41:7-24). Judge Couch also charged the jury that it made the ultimate determination as to witness credibility (App. p. 180:7-181:8). As noted by the post-conviction relief judge, the propriety of a closing argument must be reviewed "in the context of the entire record, including whether the trial judge's instructions adequately cured the improper argument and whether there is overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt." Brown v. State, 383 S.C. 506, 516, 680 S.E.2d 909, 914-15 (2009) (citing Simmons v. State, 331 S.C. 333, 338, 503 S.E.2d 164, 166 (1998)). After doing so, he found that the Petitioner had not proven prejudice because the solicitor's comments did not "so infect[] the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting

conviction a denial of due process.” *Id.* (citing *Humphries v. State*, 351 S.C. 362, 570 S.E.2d 160 (2002); *State v. Hornsby*, 326 S.C. 121, 484 S.E.2d 869 (1997)). The finding of the post-conviction relief judge should not be disturbed, and the Petitioner’s request for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

**VI. Trial counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to the trial judge's instruction that testimony of a victim in a criminal sexual conduct case need not be corroborated.**

Probative evidence exists to uphold the post-conviction relief judge’s finding that trial counsel was not ineffective when he did not object to the instruction that the testimony of a victim in a criminal sexual conduct case need not be corroborated. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-657<sup>8</sup> and related case law, the testimony of a victim in a criminal sexual conduct case does not need to be corroborated. *See State v. Rayfield*, 369 S.C. 106, 631 S.E.2d 244 (2006).

In the presentation and argument of this issue, Petitioner calls for a change in the law of this state. As it stands now, “[a] trial judge is not required to charge § 16–3–657, but when the judge chooses to do so, giving the charge does not constitute reversible error when this single instruction is not unduly emphasized and the charge as a whole comports with the law.” *Id.*, 369 S.C. at 118, 631 S.E.2d at 250. There is nothing in the record or the re-petition of Petitioner to suggest that this charge did not comport with the law. Furthermore, this charge comes from a code section that states this concept verbatim. Whether this is something that needs to be done away with has no bearing on whether trial counsel in this matter was ineffective.

---

<sup>8</sup> “The testimony of the victim need not be corroborated in prosecutions under Sections 16-3-652 through 16-3-658.”

Though trial counsel could have objected to the issuance of this charge, he was not required to do so. There is no testimony as to his mindset or whether this was part of his strategy, but it certainly could have been.<sup>9</sup> Because there is nothing improper or wrong about the instruction as given, there is no duty for trial counsel to object. Though an objection to this charge may seem like best practice at this juncture, “every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel’s challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel’s perspective at the time.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. at 2065. The finding of the post-conviction relief judge should not be disturbed, and the Petitioner’s request for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

**VII. The solicitor did not vouch for or bolster testimony during his closing argument; therefore, trial counsel was not ineffective by not objecting.**

Probative evidence exists to uphold the post-conviction relief judge’s finding that the solicitor did not improperly vouch for witnesses and, therefore, trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to object. Petitioner alleges that a portion of the solicitor’s closing argument implied that the victim’s brother, also a minor child, was not allowed to testify to the full extent of his knowledge, and that this was improper vouching or bolstering.

The portion of the argument that Petitioner specifies is during closing argument, where the solicitor stated that Minor Child 2 said, “what, basically, he’s allowed to say.” Petitioner reads this as implying that there is information outside of the record that the solicitor knew of, but that could not be brought forward in court. Respondent disagrees

---

<sup>9</sup> “Where, as here, counsel articulates valid reasons for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992) (see Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992)).

with this interpretation. Rather, the solicitor was saying that the rules of court, mentioned earlier in the same sentence, prevent witnesses from being as detailed as the jury may like. This is clear from the statement “so basically he was just allowed to talk about time and place, based on the rules, so that's why he said that she said somebody did something nasty her....” (App. p. 152:3-7.) If the solicitor were alluding to anything outside of the record, it would be information that any reasonable person could assume exists, such as the fact that the victim most likely told Minor Child 2 exactly who had done something to her.

Whether the solicitor knew the answer to the question is immaterial. In stating that rules prevented Minor Child 2 from elaborating, the solicitor was allowing the jury to understand why they may not have heard testimony that they expected, rather than vouching for the content of Minor Child 2’s testimony. This cannot be determined to be bolstering or vouching for the content of Minor Child 2’s testimony, as it does not allude to any material information outside of the record, nor does it lend any extra weight or credibility to his testimony. The finding of the post-conviction relief judge should not be disturbed, and the Petitioner’s request for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

**VIII. The solicitor did not misstate evidence presented by the State’s expert witness; therefore, trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to object.**

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